1. Identity of Petitioner 

Nina Flrey-, Plaintiff in the trial court and Appellant in the Court of 

Appeals, petitions this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision 

specified below. 

2. Court of Appeals Decision 

Firry u Orozco, No. 33232-2-ill (Oct. 1, 2015). A copy of the decision 

is included in the Appendix at pages 1-18. 

3. Issues Presented for Review 

1. Whether, on a motion for summary judgment, the court .may 

disregard a witness's declaration that arguably contradicts the witness's prior 

deposition testimony. 

2. Whether, on a motion for summary judgment, the court may 

disregard expert testimony because the expert relied, in part, on statements 

from a witness the court finds not credible. 

3. Whether the proffered declarations of Vince McClure and 

Ben Hamilton were admissible as expert opinion testimony under ER 702 

and ER 703 when their opinions were based on personal observation of the 

defective work, photographs of defective work: before it was replaced, and 

other factual evidence of a type reasonably relied on by experts in their fields. 

4. Whether there were genuine issues of material fact that 

should have precluded the trial court from gtanting summary judgment. 

Petition for Review - 1 



4. Statement of the Case 

In this construction defect case, the trial court improperly dismissed 

Nina Firey's claims on summary judgment, despite evidence in the record 

supporting the essential elements of her claims. The trial court disregarded 

the testimony of Firey's expert witnesses. The Court of Appeals af:finned, 

agreeing with the trial court that the expert opinions were insufficient 

because they were based on the recollection of Nina Firey, which the courts 

found not credible. 

Nina Firey purchased a foreclosed home in Lewis County in 2011. 

CP 302. The home was habitable, but a pre-purchase home inspection 

revealed a number of issues that would need to be addressed. CP 103-24. 

Firey had a budget of $25,000 to complete the repairs. CP 302. 

Firey hired K & T Construction. 1 Id. K & T agreed to work on a 

time and materials basis but also promised it could complete the work, in :~ 

professional and workmanlike manner, within Firey's budget. Id. Firey did not 

direct how the work should be performed, instead relying on K & T, as an 

experienced contractor, to determine the proper order and performance of 

needed repairs. Id.; CP 203. 

After K & T had been on the job a few weeks, Firey became 

concerned with the quality of K & T's work and believed she was being 

overbilled, so she fired K & T. ld.; see CP 128. Before leaving the job, K & T 

Respondents Kenneth and Doris Bannister and Tammie and Ron Myers are the 
owners of K & T Construction. Respondent State Farm Fire & Casualty is the 
bonding company for K & T Construction. These parties will be referred to, 
collectively, as "K & T." 
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executed a written wartanty. CP 307. Firey Jater discovered that K & Ts work 

was defective and needed to be redone. CP 138, 153,303. 

After firing K & T, Firey hired Crown Mobile Home Set-up/SVC2 

to complete the project CP 303. Crown agreed to work on a time and 

materials basis, promising it could complete the work, in a professional and 

workmanlike manner, within Firey's budget. Id. Crown repJaced some, but 

not all, of K & T's work, which Crown said was defective. Id.; CP 32. Crown 

did other work on the home for about one month, then left to work on other 

projects. CP 303. Firey later discovered that Crown's work was defective and 

needed to be redone. CP 138, 153, 303. 

Crown referred Firey to Orozco Construction, who she hired to take 

over for Crown. CP 303. Orozco also brought in AOK Construction and 

Chris Cook. Id. Orozco replaced some, but not all, of K & T and Crown's 

defective work. Id.; CP 144-45. Orozco, AOK, and Cook did additional, 

defective work and caused damage to the existing house and other property. 

CP 144-47, 303. 

Firey fired Orozco, AOK, and Cook and hired Bar-None 

Construction to finish the project. CP 138. With the help of Bar-None, Firey 

discovered the full extent of the defective work and other damages caused by 

K & T, Crown, Orozco, AOK, and Cook. Id. 

2 Respondents Michael and Joan Lyon are sole proprietors doing business as 
Crown Mobile Home Set~up/SVC. These parties will be referred to, collectively, as 
"Crown." 
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Firey brought this lawsuit against K & T, Crown, Orozco, AOK, and 

Cook in November 2011. CP 138-39. Firey has settled with Orozco and 

AOK. In March 2014, K & T moved for summary judgment dismissal of all 

of Firey's claims, arguing that Firey could not prove the existence of a 

contract, warranty, or breach. CP 36. Crown also moved for summary 

judgment, malcing similar arguments. CP 62. 

In response, Firey argued that genuine issues of material fact existed 

as to all of the elements of her claims. E.g., CP 293-95. In support of this 

argument, Firey submitted her own declaration (CP 301-07) and the 

declarations of V mce McOure (CP 30~ 1 0), Ben Hamilton (CP 311-24), and 

Robert Floberg (CP 325-29). Firey's response also called the court's attention 

to a previously filed declaration of McClure. CP 291.3 

Firey testified to the existence and terms of the oral contracts she 

had with K & T and Crown. CP 302-03. She presented a written warranty 

with K & T and a list of desired work that she had shown to both K & T 

and Crown at the time they were hired CP 305-07. McClure testified to 

industry standards for quality of work and the failure of K & T and Crown 

to meet those standards. CP 310. Hamilton agreed and further testified, 

having seen the home prior to any work being done on it, that K & T and 

Crown caused damage to the existing home. CP 312. McClure also testified, 

on the basis of multiple site visits and extensive review of discovery, 

photographs, Firey's testimony, and discussions with Hamilton and the Lewis 

3 This McOure declaration appears in CP at 1-32. It was also presented by Crown 

as an exhibit to the declaration of Michael DeLeo. CP at 243-75. 
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County Building Department, as to the specific breaches by K & T and 

Crown and the cost of repair. CP 1-12. 

K & Ts reply brief asked the trial court to strike or disregard the 

McOure and Hamilton declarations, arguing that they were speculative 

opinions based on hearsay and were thus inadmissible under ER 702 and 

ER 703. CP 331. K & T misrepresented to the court that there were no 

photographs of K & Ts work before it was altered by other contractors 

(CP 332; RP, April25, 2014, at 8:25-9:13), despite K & T's knowledge that 

such photographs did, in fact, exist (see CP 195-201 (m deposition; Firey used 

photos to point out defective work in its unaltered condition)). Firey did not 

have an opportunity to respond except at o!al argument. RP, April25, 2014, 

at 7-13. 

The trial court found there was a dispute of ma.terial fact as to the 

existence and terms of the parties' contract. RP, April25, 2014, at 21:9-14, 

25:16-17. The trial court denied the motion to strike as untimely. Id. at 14:1-3. 

The trial court, nevertheless, disregarded the testimony of Firey's experts, 

finding their opinions inadmissible to prove '~ho did what and what was 

defective" because the trial court believed the opinions were based primarily 

on Firey's recollection; which the court found not credible. Id. at 12:14-13:25, 

21:15-22:12. 

The trial court certified its summary judgment orders as final 

judgments under CR 54(b). CP 389-93. Firey appealed the summary 

judgment orders. The appeal was transferred from Division 2 of the Court 

of Appeals to Division 3, to relieve a backlog of cases in Division 2. 

Petition for Review - 5 



In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed. The 

court held that Firey's declaration could not create an issue of material fact 

because it contradicted her prior deposition testimony. App. 13-14. The court 

further held that the declatations of Firey's experts did not create an issue of 

material fact because the experts relied on "the undocumented recollections 

of Ms. Firey," and therefore ''lacked an adequate factual foundation." 

App. 16-17. In short, the court found Firey not credible, and on that basis 

affirmed dismissal. 

5. Argument 

A petition for review should be accepted when the decision of the 

Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court or with another 

decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). Firey's petition qualifies. 

5.1 The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with 
decisions of this Court that, on summary judgment, 
a court cannot weigh evidence or credibility. 

This Court has declared, ''the rule is settled that the court does not 

weigh credibility in deciding a motion for summary judgment." Jones v. State, 

170 Wn.2d 338,354 n. 7, 242 P.3d 825 (2010). The Court explained that to do 

so '<would usurp the role of the jury" and would make it impossible for 

plaintiffs to withstand motions for summary judgment because their 

declarations would be disregarded as "self-serving." Id. This has been the rule 

of this Court on motions for summary judgment since at least Fleming u 

Smith, 64 Wn.2d 181, 185, 390 P.2d 990 (1964) ("The trial court is not 

permitted to weigh the evidence in ruling on summary judgment."). 
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In applying this rule, the Court of Appeals has noted, "it is axiomatic 

that on a motion for summary judgment the trial court ha.s no authority to 

weigh evidence or testimonial credibility, nor may we do so on appeal." 

No Ka Oi Gnp. u Nat'/60 Mi1111te T~me, 71 Wn. App. 844, 854 n.11, 863 P.2d 

79 (1993). In a more recent case, Volk u DeMeerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 

337 P.3d 372 (2014), the respondent argued that an expert's declaration 

should be disregarded as speculative because, among other things, it lacked a 

factual basis. Id. at 430. Division 3 of the Court of Appeals rejected the 

argument, stating, "[O]ur role is not to weigh the credibility of the witness or 

the validity of expert opinions. Courts do not weigh the evidence or assess 

witness credibility on a motion for summary judgment." Id. 

Nevertheless, in this case, Division 3 disregarded the expert opinion 

testimony of Dr. McClure and Mr. Hamilton by weighing the credibility of 

Ms. Firey to arrive at the conclusion that the experts' opinions laclred a 

factual basis. See App. 16-17. This decision directly conflicts with the well

settled rule set forth by this Court that on summary judgment a court is not 

permitted to weigh the evidence. 

Although an expert's opinion can be excluded as speculative when it 

is not based on the facts of the case, e.g., Milleru Uleins, 109 Wn. App. 140, 

149, 34 P.3d 835 (2001) (the expert had no evidence to establish the location 

of the victim at the time of impact), such was not the case here. The 

opinions of Firey's experts were based on the facts of the case and actual 

evidence of what each defendant contractor had done. Both McOure and 

Hamilton personally observed those portions of K & T and Crown's work 
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that remained unaltered by subsequent contJ:actors. For those portions of the 

work that had been altered, McOure relied on Firey's recollection of the 

work, her photographs of the work in progress, other documentation, and 

discussions with qualified individuals. CP 3, 309. An expert can reasonably 

rely upon, and accept as true, the facts presented to them by the party for 

whom the expert testifies. Cotton v. K.ronmberg, 111 Wn. App. 258, 266-67, 

44 P.3d 878 (2002). 

There is no question that McClure and Hamilton relied on evidence. 

Where the court went wrong was in weighing the veracity of that evidence, 

an exercise that is not permitted on summary judgment. The loaded language 

of the court's decision reveals that it was, in fact, weighing the evidence: 

There is a central deficiency in these experts' declarations: 

It is obvious that both experts rely on the undocumented 
recollections of Ms. Fitey as to the scope of work 
performed by each defendant and the resulting condition of 

the house after each defendant ceased its work. ... The 

pictures supposedly supporting their opinions are undated. 

App. 16-17 (emphasis added). 

Where, as here, there is a fuctual basis for an expert's opinion, the 

opinion is admissible---and capable of raising a genuine issue of material 

fact-and any "deficiencies" in the factual basis go only to the weight to be 

given to the opinion by a jury. Inn Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 39, 

283 P.3d 546 (2012) C'Tha.t an expert's testimony is not based on a personal 

evaluation of the subject goes to the testimony's weight, not its 

admissibility.'') The opinion of a qualified expert, supported by a basis in the 
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facts of the case, is sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact to 

preclude summary judgment. Xiao Ping Chen v. CitJ o/ Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 

890, 910-11, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009). 

The Court of Appeals could not disregard the declarations of 

McClure and Hamilton without improperly weighing the evidence-in 

particular, the credibility of Firey's recollections and photos. Treating the 

evidence properly, the court should have denied summary judgment. The 

decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decisions of this Court 

and should be reviewed. 

5.2 The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with 
Division 2 precedent on the issue of whether a 
declaration can be disregarded because it conflicts 
with prior deposition testimony. 

The Court of Appeals also disregarded the declaration of Ms. Firey, 

relying on In re &f!y, 170 Wn. App. 722, 738, 287 P.3d 12 (Div. 3, 2012). 

The court reasoned that Firey's declaration testimony that K & T promised 

to perform its work in a "workmanlike and professional manner" 

contradicted her prior deposition testimony, in which she indicated the only 

terms she could remember were that K & T would be paid on a time and 

materials basis and would make the house livable. 4 App. 14; compare CP 302 

tvith CP 203-04. 

'~ This issue WllS raised for the first time by K & T on appeal. K & T failed to 

raise any objection to Firey's declaration in the trial court and should have been 

barred from .raising the issue on appeal Ju Bemra BeC8ml u. Expert Janitoria4 ILC, 
176 Wn. App. 694,721,728,309 P.3d 711 (2013). 
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The court cited In re Kef!y for a bright-line rule, "that a party resisting 

summary judgment cannot create a genuine iss~e of material fact by 

contradicting clear deposition answers." App. 13. The same bright-line rule is 

followed by Division 1 of the Court of Appeals. &bi11S0tt v. Avis Rent a Car 

Sys., 106 Wn. App. 104, 121, 22 P.3d 818 (Div. 1, 2001). 

However. Division 2, in which this case originated, has rejected the 

bright-line rule. Rather, Division 2 has held, "on summary judgment, a later 

declaration should be considered in light of other evidence presented in 

the case to determine whether sufficient evidence raises a factual issue." 

Beers v. Ross, 137 Wn. App. 566, 571-72, 154 P.3d 277 (Div 2, 2007). This 

conflict has been noted in Karl B. Tegland, Washington Handbook on Civil 

Procedure, 15A Wash. Prac. § 69.14 (2011). 

In disregarding Firey's declaration, Division 3 followed its own 

precedent but conflicted with the precedent of the Division in which the 

case originated. Had the court followed the rule of Division 2 in Beers v. Ross, 

and considered Firey's declaration in the light of other evidence, it would 

have found that McClure testified that there are basic, minimum industry 

standards for quality of work, which standards would be implied in any 

construction contract. CP 310. In light of this evidence, Firey's declaJ:ation 

raises a factual issue as to whether the contracts included a promise, express 

or implied, that the work would be completed in a "workmanlike and 

professional manner." The court's decision to apply the bright-line rule 

conflicted with binding precedent in Division 2. 
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Moreover. the court leveraged its disregard of Firey's declaration into 

its improper credibility determination. Reading between the lines, the court 

must ha.ve reasoned that if Firey's declaration could not be trusted, then 

neither could her recollection communicated to her experts. The court is not 

permitted to engage in such reasoning on summary judgment. Rather. the 

court is required to view the facts and all reasonable inferences in a light 

· favorable to Firey, the nonmoving party. This Court should accept review 

and bring the trial court and Court of Appeals in line with the proper mode 

of analysis on summary judgment 

5.3 Genuine issues of material fact should have 
precluded summary judgment. 

An expert witness is entided to testify to facts in issue in the form of 

an opinion. ER 702. Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference on an 

ultimate issue of fact is likewise properly considered. ER 704. The opinion 

of a qualified expert, supported by a basis in the facts of the case, is 

sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact to preclude summary 

judgment Xiao Ping Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 910-11. 

Mr. Hamilton offered a general opinion on breach and damage 

caused by all defendants: 

The work of the Defendant Contractors that preceded Bar 
None were well below minimum acceptable standards. Most 
of that work needed to be removed and replaced. In addition, 
there was considerable damage done to Nina Firey's existing 
home as a result of what these Defendant Contractors did 

CP 312. 
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Dr. McClure was more specific to each defendant: 

Aside from the some kitchen interior wall sheathing, all of 
K.&Ts work has been or needs to be redone. In addition, 
their work damaged the porch, the kitchen cabinets, and the 
costs of doing so exceed what they were paid. This 
contractor caused property and consequential damages 
beyond the scope of their work. 

Effectively, all of Crown Mobile's work was redone by 
Orozco or sti.ll needs to be corrected. In addition to the 
defective work, Crown Mobile damaged wall fi.n.i.shes and 

insulation on the second story, resulting in property and 
consequential damages. 

CP 4-5. Dr. McClure went on to describe, in detail, the specific portions of 

K & T and Crown's work that was defective, unauthorized, or caused 

property and consequential damages. CP 7-11. The opinions of Fil:ey's 

experts that K & T and Crown's work was defective and caused property 

damage to the existing home were sufficient to create genuine issues of 

material fact and preclude summary judgment dismissal of Fil:ey's claims. 

The McClure declaration was not limited to his opinions of ultimate 

fact. McClure went on to testify to specific defects and damages caused by 

K & T and Crown: 

• K & T removed kitchen cabinets without authorization, CP 7; 

• K & T removed half of the front porch after being explicitly told not 
to do so, CP 7; 

• K & T failed to obtain permits and did electrical and plumbing work 
without proper state licenses, CP 7; 
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• K & T attempted to level one comer of the kitchen after installing 
the kitchen window, resulting in a warped window frame, CP 7; 

• K & T failed to remove and replace chy rotted wood before 
attempting to level the kitchen, CP 7; 

• K & T's leveling efforts were ineffective, CP 7; 

• K & T failed to install the utility room floor framing correctly. The 
floor was at the wrong height and had inadequate support, CP 8; 

• K & T attempted and failed to correct a sag in the utility .room roof, 
CP 8; 

• K & T failed to properly build the back steps to the utility room. The 
steps are dangerous as constructed and do not meet building code 
.requirements, CP 8; 

• K & T installed utility room insulation incorrectly, CP 8; 

• K & T made the crawl space access door too small and then sealed it 
with plywood, CP 8; 

• K & T installed the wrong size back door, did it incorrectly, and 
damaged the door in the process, CP 8; 

• K & T improperly modified the shed roo£ It is unsafe, blocks the 
back door, and allows water to enter the covered space, CP 8 

• K & T installed the water heater in the wrong location, did not 
ground it, and piped the overflow into the crawl space. None of this 
work complied with building codes, CP 8; 

• K & T improperly installed building wrap, CP 8; 

• K & T installed underla.yment over rotted and moldy flooring, CP 8; 

• Crown removed sheetrock and insulation in the upstairs area without 
authorization, CP 7; 

• Crown attempted to level floors upstairs and in the dining room, 
rendering the existing floor sheathing and underla.yment unusable, 
CP7; 
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• Crown failed to obtain permits and did electrical and plumbing work 
without proper state licenses, CP 8; 

• Crown improperly installed insulation in the attic, CP 8; 

• Crown's reinstalla.tion of the water heater failed to meet building 
code requirements. It was not strapped, was in a closet that did not 
have access, and was not property wired, CP 8; 

• Crown damaged the finish flooring in the utility room, CP 8; and 

• Crown installed crawl space insulation upside down, which had to be 
replaced, CP 8. 

McClure also testified to the costs of repairing or replacing all of this 

defective work. CP 11. The McClure and Hamilton declarations, based on the 

facts of the case as related to them and discovered through independent 

investigation, presented specific facts establishing the elements of breach and 

damages. These specific facts created a genuine issue of material fact that 

should have precluded summary judgment. 

6. Conclusion 

The McClure and Hamilton declarations set forth specific facts that 

would have precluded summary judgment, had the trial court and the Court 

of Appeals not engaged in improper weighing of evidence and credibility. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals was error and conflicted with long

standing authority of this Court and with precedent in Division 2, where this 

case originated. This Court should accept review and bring the trial court and 

Court of Appeals in line with the proper mode of analysis on summary 

judgment.