RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 30, 2015, 1:34 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92491-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 33232-2-III COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NINA FIREY,

Petitioner,

ν.

NICOLASSA OROZCO, et al.,

Defendants,

TAMMIE MYERS, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CROWN MOBILE HOMES SET-UP/SVC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETERSON RUSSELL KELLY PLLC Michael S. DeLeo, WSBA # 22037 Attorney for Respondents Lyon d/b/a Crown Mobile Homes Set-Up/SVC 10900 NE Fourth Street, Suite 1850 Bellevue, WA 98004-8341 Phone: 425-462-4700

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST GRANTING REVIEW

1. Overview.

RAP 13.4(b) states in pertinent part that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only*: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another

¹² Opinion, at p. 17.

¹³ *Id.* at p. 16.

¹⁴ *Id.* at p. 17.

¹⁵ *Id.* (citing to *Mastaba, Inc.* v. *Lamb Weston Sales, Inc.*, 23 F. Supp. 3d 1283, 1295-96 (E.D. Wash. 2014).

decision of the Court of Appeals. . . ."¹⁶ Neither of these factors or considerations supports granting review here. The Opinion affirmed summary judgment for Crown Mobile on Ms. Firey's breach of contract claim because Ms. Firey offered no admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of fact about a necessary element of that claim. ¹⁷ The Court of Appeals further held that on the undisputed facts, Ms. Firey's unjust enrichment claim failed as a matter of law. Neither of these conclusions conflicts with any prior precedent from this Court or the Washington State Court of Appeals. Accordingly, this Court should deny Ms. Firey's Petition for Review.

2. Summary judgment for Crown Mobile on the breach of contract claim was proper, because Ms. Firey offered no admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of fact about any alleged defects in Crown Mobile's work.

As the Court of Appeals noted, "an affidavit containing *admissible* expert opinion on an ultimate issue of fact is [generally] sufficient to

¹⁶ RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added). RAP 13.4(b) also lists two other factors that can support review, but Ms. Firey makes no effort to show that either the third factor (a "significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved") or the fourth factor ("the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court") supports review in this case. RAP 13.4(b). See Petition for Review at p. 6. Accordingly, Ms. Firey has waived any claim that the third and fourth considerations support review. In any event, it is clear that the questions of whether Crown Mobile is liable to Ms. Firey on either a breach of contract or unjust enrichment theory neither pose any "significant question[s] of law under the Constitution," nor are matters of "substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b).

create a genuine issue as to that fact, precluding summary judgment." However, it is also well-established that "[e]xpert opinions must be based on the facts of the case and will be disregarded entirely where the factual basis for the opinion is found to be inadequate." Moreover, "if an expert states the ground upon which his opinion is based, his explanation is not proof of the facts which he says he took into consideration. His explanation merely discloses the basis of his opinion in substantially the same manner as if he had answered a hypothetical question." ²⁰

Here, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Ms.

Firey's affidavit provided no evidence of any defects in Crown Mobile's work. It also correctly applied *Hash*, *Allen*, and *Miller*, and held that McClure's and Hamilton's "opinions were speculative because they lacked an adequate factual foundation and were, therefore, insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." Critically, the Court of Appeals did <u>not</u> evaluate the credibility of either Ms. Firey or that of the

¹⁸ Opinion at p. 14 (quoting *J.N* v. *Bellingham Sch. Dist. No. 501*, 74 Wn. App. 49, 60-61,871 P.2d 1106 (1994)) (emphasis added).

¹⁹ *Id.* (quoting from *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 49 Wn. App. 130, 135, 741 P.2d 584 (1987), *aff'd*, 110 Wn.2d 912,757 P.2d 507 (1988)).

Opinion at p. 15 (quoting from Allen v. Asbestos Corp., 138 Wn. App. 564, 581, 157 P.3d 406 (2007)). See also Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn. App. 140, 149, 34 P.3d 835 (2001).

²¹ Opinion, at p. 13. See also CP 303 at ¶ 8.

²² Opinion, at p. 17.

experts who relied on her opinions.²³ Instead, the Court of Appeals simply followed established summary judgment law by determining whether there was admissible evidence in the record that created a genuine issue of material fact.²⁴ Because the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there was no admissible evidence of defects in Crown Mobile's work, there was no need for a trial to resolve credibility issues (which only arise when there is admissible evidence on both sides of a material question of fact). The Court of Appeals properly affirmed summary judgment for Crown Mobile on Ms. Firey's breach of contract claim, and there is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to grant review of that decision.

3. <u>Summary Judgment was also proper on Ms. Firey's unjust enrichment claim.</u>

The Court of Appeals also properly affirmed summary judgment for Crown Mobile on Ms. Firey's unjust enrichment claim. The existence of a time and materials contract between Ms. Firey and Crown Mobile was

²³ Ms. Firey's claim that the Court of Appeals wrongly evaluated the credibility of admissible testimony is simply not true. *Cf.* Petition for Review, at pp. 1-2; 6-9.

²⁴ See CR 56(e) (stating that "[s]upporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein"). See also John Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr., 117 Wn.2d 772, 787, 819 P.2d 370 (1991) (holding that an "opinion of an expert which is only a conclusion or which is based on assumptions is not evidence which satisfies the summary judgment standards because it is not evidence which will take a case to the jury").

not in dispute.²⁵ Washington law clearly establishes that "[u]njust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained absent any contractual relationship because notions of fairness and justice require it."²⁶ Accordingly, where a valid contract governs the rights and obligations of the parties, unjust enrichment does not apply.²⁷ As with its decision on the breach of contract issue, the Court of Appeals' decision on this point is not in conflict with any binding precedent by this Court or the Court of Appeals, and Ms. Firey's Petition for Review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

Contrary to Ms. Firey's chief argument in her Petition for Review, the Court of Appeals did not make any credibility determinations when it affirmed summary judgment for Crown Mobile. Instead, it correctly applied established Washington law regarding summary judgment motions and held that there was no admissible evidence supporting Ms. Firey's

²⁵ Opinion, at pp. 17-18. *See also* Petition for Review, at p. 4 (noting that "Firey testified to the existence and terms of the oral contracts she had with K&T and Crown"). Although the Petition for Review alleges that dismissal of Ms. Firey's "claims" was improper, it neither lists the Opinion's dismissal of the unjust enrichment claim in its "concise statement of issues presented for review" nor makes any argument about this part of the Opinion. RAP 13.4(c)(5); cf. Petition for Review at p. 1. This provides another sufficient justification for denying review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion regarding Firey's unjust enrichment claim against Crown Mobile. See, e.g., State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 625, 141 P.3d 13, 19 (2006)) (declining to consider issue not properly raised by appellant in conformity with RAP 13.4(c)(5) and RAP 13.7(b)).

²⁶ Opinion at p. 17 (quoting *Young* v. *Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008).

²⁷ *Id.* (citing to *Mastaba, Inc.* v. *Lamb Weston Sales, Inc.*, 23 F. Supp. 3d 1283, 1295-96 (E.D. Wash, 2014).

breach of contract claim. It also properly applied this Court's precedent regarding unjust enrichment. There is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to grant review, and it should deny Ms. Firey's Petition.